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I believe that together we really did contribute to changing our world. – Margaret Thatcher to Mikhail Gorbachev, at the time of her resignation




























PROLOGUE





What follows does not purport to be a detached account of Margaret Thatcher’s achievements in foreign policy. I was one of her advisers and was involved in a good many of the episodes described – the Rhodesia settlement and, in Washington, the Falklands War and nuclear missile negotiations, in ‘getting our money back’ from the European Community, the negotiation of the Single European Act, the Namibia settlement and the transition from apartheid to democracy in South Africa. I have sought to explain how it was that someone who, throughout her tenure, was criticised by much of the British foreign policy Establishment, succeeded in her ambition to restore Britain’s standing and influence in the world, in contrast to the disrepair in which it had fallen at the time she became Prime Minister. The journey with her was never lacking in excitement or achievement. How exactly was this high-wire act performed?





On the morning of 25 June 1984, the Prime Minister’s motorcade whisked her from Orly airport to the Château of Fontainebleau. She was greeted in the courtyard by President Mitterrand and a full guard of honour in their resplendent uniforms. The French, as she observed, know how to do these things properly. There was a round of applause from the bystanders. Although hardly a favourite of the French press, she always got a friendly reception from the public in France, for whom she was a highly recognisable monstre sacré. The other heads of government were, to them, indistinguishable one from the other, apart from the massive Chancellor Kohl.


She got on well with Mitterrand, infinitely preferring him to his aloof and chilly predecessor, Giscard d’Estaing. He had established a mildly flirtatious relationship with her (‘he likes women’, as she observed), which worked because he had proved to be a true ally when it counted, during the Falklands War. It was his close friend and Minister for Europe, Roland Dumas, who said that he had described her as having ‘the eyes of Caligula and the mouth of Marilyn Monroe!’ She always chose an even more than normally elegant suit for these encounters with the French, and there was never a blonde hair out of place.


That afternoon, the heads of government discussed the state of the world economy, causing her to fret at what she regarded as delaying tactics. At last they got to the European Community budget. She told the others that she was not going to accept any more temporary solutions for the British budgetary contribution, a cause she described as ‘getting our money back’. There was going to have to be a permanent solution. Mitterrand referred the issue to the Foreign Ministers to discuss that evening and reverted to an account of his recent visit to Moscow.


She found all this frustrating, as she made very clear to those of us accompanying her en route through the forest of Fontainebleau to the Hôtellerie du Bas-Bréau near the village of Barbizon, a favourite haunt of Robert Louis Stevenson and numerous French artists and writers from the turn of the century. Here, the heads of government and their Foreign Ministers were due to have their separate dinners. On that warm summer evening, we waited on the terrace for her to emerge. Ever meticulous, she had kept the menu, revealing that they had dined on foie gras, lobster, rack of lamb and raspberry soufflé.


To her extreme annoyance, the Foreign Ministers’ meeting had proved to be a fiasco. We had not expected much better with the small and pompous French Foreign Minister, Claude Cheysson, as chairman. In an attempt to woo him, the Foreign Secretary, Geoffrey Howe, had used his favourite tactic of inviting him to spend a weekend at the Foreign Secretary’s beautiful country house at Chevening. The visit had not been an unqualified success as I had to help M. Cheysson extricate himself from the maze, where he was not tall enough to see over the hedges.


The Foreign Ministers had wasted most of their time listening to Cheysson’s own account of world affairs. On the budget issue they had simply ‘clarified the points of difference’, with Cheysson suggesting that we might get between 50 and 60 per cent of our contribution back. When this was reported to the Prime Minister, who was consulting with us on the terrace of the hotel, clutching her whisky and soda, she exploded with rage. ‘How dare they treat Britain in this way?’ she stormed. ‘Have they forgotten that we saved all their skins in the War?’


She was upset that the Treasury’s favourite scheme, whereby our contribution would be based on our relative prosperity, had been rejected by everyone. I said that I doubted if the Treasury scheme was best for us anyway. With Greece, Ireland and Italy already in the Community, Spain and Portugal about to join it, and the improvement in our own economic performance, it could work against us over time. David Williamson, her trusted adviser from the Cabinet Office, and I told her that we still believed we could work things out with the French. We were told to go and try.


As it by now was past midnight, we set off to rouse my French counterpart, Guy Legras, from his hotel. We agreed with him a text providing for the permanent automatic correction of our contribution as it was to be embodied in Community law and changeable, therefore, only by unanimity. But we left the percentage figure blank. Legras said that Mitterrand would not go above 60 per cent. We told him that there would be no settlement at less than two-thirds of our contribution back. But having learned something by this time of Margaret Thatcher’s psychology, we were absolutely determined to leave it to the Prime Minister herself to set the final figure. Otherwise she would never accept that it was the best that could have been achieved.


Next morning she felt that we had shown the ‘brains and determination to retrieve something from this debacle’.1 Roland Dumas had a private life that was colourful even by French political standards. He was the epitome of ‘gauche caviar’ (members of the French left with expensive tastes). But he was also a born negotiator. We knew that he wanted an agreement at Fontainebleau, as did Mitterrand’s key assistant, the beautiful and very capable Élisabeth Guigou, and that they would advise their President to accept a version of our proposal.


In the European Council meeting the Prime Minister was accompanied by Geoffrey Howe and by the combative and cerebral Michael Butler,2 who, as our ambassador to the European Community, had done much to pave the way for success. The text we had agreed with Legras was circulated to the heads of government. There ensued an acrimonious debate, with the Prime Minister insisting on a 70 per cent correction and the others rejecting it. When an exasperated Mitterrand finally proposed 65 per cent, she said that he could not refuse her one percentage point more, then called a time-out. Emerging from the meeting, this was the time to settle, she felt. She did not believe that more could be achieved. With considerable relief, we agreed.


The Germans, outmanoeuvred, were going to have to foot most of the bill. Hans Tietmeyer, then in the finance ministry, was particularly cross. But, as we had hoped and anticipated, Chancellor Kohl was not prepared to block an agreement negotiated with the French. The others grudgingly acquiesced.


One Mitterrand aide, Jacques Attali, who was not even present in Fontainebleau, was later to claim that the Prime Minister was so disappointed that she burst into tears. In fact, she was quietly triumphant, and not without reason. For it was, in monetary terms, the most valuable agreement any British government has ever negotiated. It has saved this country billions of pounds in every subsequent year. This outcome could never have been achieved without the ferocious energy and intransigence with which Margaret Thatcher had pursued her goal, at whatever cost to her relations with others.


Not long afterwards, standing with her at a window at Chequers, I found her gazing at a landscape of yellow oilseed rape, planted with subsidies from the European Commission. ‘This,’ she hissed, ‘used to be a green and pleasant land!’
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There followed another European episode that illustrated vividly Margaret Thatcher’s modus operandi. Discussions had been continuing for years on plans for the Channel Tunnel, with little progress, until it came to a meeting with the Prime Minister before she set off to Paris for another encounter with Mitterrand in December 1984.


These large set-piece meetings with her ministers and officials around the Cabinet table at No. 10 before each important European meeting had become a ritual with her. At this stage of her prime ministership, she would wade overnight through every page of the voluminous material provided for her. Each of us then would be subjected in turn to an inquisition about its contents. Officials summoned to these meetings who had not attended them before found the experience frankly terrifying. Her ministers did not enjoy them either. She would glare around the room, suspecting most of her advisers to be afflicted with terminal dampness, verging on treason. As Michael Butler observed, these encounters were not for the faint-hearted.3 He and I had found from experience that the prerequisite was to be better prepared than she was – and then to stand our ground. She had little time for those who did not argue back and delighted in excluding one distinguished ambassador from all future meetings when he failed to do so.


The argument about the Channel Tunnel was opened by the Secretary of State for Transport, Nicholas Ridley, who made clear that he was against it, not on any technical or financial grounds, but in principle – for, apparently, visceral reasons. This, at the time, was thought to be the attitude of the Prime Minister as well. An official from his department was subjected to a fearful inquisition. Why could there not be a bridge instead? What was the point of a tunnel if you could not drive through it? And so on.


Margaret Thatcher’s main concern, however, was her very shrewd suspicion that the project would cost far more than the contractors were telling us and that, when this happened, the government would be asked to foot the bill. Michael Heseltine was in favour of public funding. After all, he pointed out, we funded tunnels under the Mersey. Whatever one thought of this argument, it was the one least likely to appeal to her.


Geoffrey Howe, for all his pro-Europeanism, also had no enthusiasm for the project because of the impact he feared the through traffic would have on his constituency in Surrey. So the lonely task of arguing for it was left to Michael Butler, supported by me. We pointed out the advantage to British manufacturers of being able to freight shipments through the tunnel to many of their main export markets overnight. Above all, we argued, whatever we thought of the financial projections, the banks had undertaken to fund the project themselves. How could it possibly be compatible with the philosophy of the Thatcher government to prevent them from doing so? This earned us a basilisk stare.


The meeting ended, as usual, with the Prime Minister not revealing her intentions as we all trooped off with her to Paris. That evening, when she returned to the embassy from her private dinner with Mitterrand, she gave us her usual meticulously careful account of what had been said, on every other subject. At the end of which she casually announced: ‘And by the way, we decided to give the go-ahead for the Channel Tunnel.’


She thoroughly enjoyed this coup de théâtre, which produced a strangled gasp from Geoffrey Howe, whose worries about his constituency were cheerfully brushed aside.

























INTRODUCTION


‘I OFFENDED ON MANY COUNTS’





Visiting the United States as Leader of the Opposition in 1975, Margaret Thatcher was greeted by an article in the Wall Street Journal describing Britain as the sick country of Europe, brought about not by any defeat or disaster, but by the policies of its governments and their ‘resigned acceptance’ by its people. When she described how she proposed to change this, she was accused of running Britain down abroad. In his farewell despatch from the Paris embassy, subsequently published by The Economist, Sir Nicholas Henderson described the fading of our influence in Europe and the world as a result of economic weakness: ‘Our economic decline has been such as to sap the foundations of our diplomacy.’4


She saw it as her mission to arrest and reverse that decline, not only economically but also in terms of our standing in the world. Not many believed her to be capable of doing so. Describing an early meeting with the permanent secretaries of all the major government departments, she found it a dismal experience, as they did not believe that much could or even should be changed, while she had very different ideas. When she said that together they could beat the system, they protested, ‘But we are the system!’ She never fully trusted the civil service – and was right not to do so, given its capacity for inertia – but was always looking for outstanding figures within it, which she found, among others, in her successive private and Cabinet secretaries. Without Robin Butler, Robert Armstrong, Andrew Turnbull and others like them, she could never have accomplished what she did.


Charles Powell, her closest foreign policy adviser, came from the Foreign Office, before being partially disowned by it because of his closeness to her. Her combative and very effective Press Secretary, Bernard Ingham, was retrieved from the Department of Energy, despite having been a Guardian writer and lifelong Labour supporter, because she felt she could get on with him – and she did.


I and others found it refreshing to deal with a Prime Minister whose question was not ‘What shall we say?’ but ‘What shall we do?’ Unusually among parliamentarians, she had formidable executive capacities, devoting ferocious energy to ensuring implementation of her policies, not just their formulation. This determination to act as a managing director, and not as a chairman primus inter pares, was both the secret of her success and the source of massive friction with her colleagues. An inveterate workaholic, she spent her weekends, evenings and early mornings devouring papers in far more detail than most of her ministers, leading at times to unpleasant surprises for them. Her whole life was politics, as was Harold Wilson’s, but, unlike Wilson, wheeling and dealing were not her style.


She never sought or expected any easy popularity. A polarising figure who distrusted consensus, she was prepared to court and incur unpopularity in pursuit of her goals. She knew, as was made very clear by them to her, that a large section of the media simply could not stand her. She very firmly believed that in the end, and by the electorate, she would be judged by results.


My own experience with her never was that she could not be persuaded to change her mind, and in fact she was persuaded to do so far more often than she ever publicly admitted – provided she was convinced that the persuader shared the same fundamental objectives. She arrived at conclusions by a process of arguing from first principles, including thinking the unthinkable, to be absolutely certain that the unthinkable just might not work after all. With those members of the mandarinate she trusted (a trust which had to be earned), she did not fear that any leak of private discussions would appear in the press next day, as it quite frequently did with her ministerial colleagues.


Her two key foreign policy advisers in the Falklands War, Nicholas Henderson and Tony Parsons, were both Whigs by nature, with no sympathy for her monetarist policies. Yet both developed a real admiration for her. As Henderson observed, she was remarkably unstuffy and devoid of any trace of pomposity. She had undoubted star quality and an ability to rise to the occasion. They respected her determination to do what was best for Britain, even when they disagreed about her tactics. They also admired her concern always to look her best, even at the end of a difficult or frustrating day, leaving her male counterparts exhausted in their crumpled suits. She was no feminist, but very conscious of her femininity. In Nigel Lawson’s words, ‘She was convinced that her authority … would be diminished if she were not impeccably turned out at all times. She was probably right.’5 In the male-dominated and constantly photographed world in which she had to operate, she did not believe she could ever afford to appear with a hair out of place, and she virtually never did.


She devoted exceptional care and intensity to the preparation of her speeches, which made her a very effective orator, as every speech delivered by her was so extensively reworked that it indisputably was her speech, whoever initially contributed to it. Anyone helping her had to expect every single page to be rewritten many times, or discarded, with papers strewn across the floor, in a process lasting typically until the small hours of the day on which the speech was to be made. A firm believer in the power of words and of ideas, on such occasions she could never be accused of going through the motions.


Accompanying her to international summit meetings was always a challenging but also an exhilarating experience, due to her determination to be the best-prepared head of government in the room. She would emerge from each dinner with her counterparts, seize a stiff whisky, kick off her shoes and give us a detailed and often hilarious account of what had transpired, while preparing her plan of action for the next day.


She was no killjoy, offering a relieved George Shultz a scotch and soda at the British embassy in New Delhi with the words: ‘There is only so much orange juice one can stand.’6 At the end of the Reagan administration, Shultz held a dinner in her honour at the State Department at which he presented her with the ‘order of the handbag’, observing that at whatever was the crucial moment in international meetings she would fish out of her bag a text which, he contended, more often than not would be the basis for what was eventually agreed.


In seeking to promote British interests, which she was exceptionally determined about doing, she had an instinctive distrust of the foreign policy elite in Britain, who she suspected, for instance, of wanting to engineer a handover of the Falklands to Argentina, or of Gibraltar to Spain, regardless of the principle of self-determination. She saw herself rather as expressing the views of the mass of the British people, in whose common sense she placed more faith than in that of the intelligentsia.


She did not resent argument – it was in fact her favourite pastime – so long as it was conducted away from the press. On two occasions John Major feared he had endangered his chances of promotion by getting into quite fierce arguments with her, only to be told by her husband, ‘she will have enjoyed that’ and to find himself promoted in the next reshuffle.7 Michael Butler found, as I and others did, that she positively welcomed serious argument and had a high regard for those who argued with her most effectively.


She was fearless politically – and not only politically, as she showed in the rubble of the Grand Hotel in Brighton. She also was a remarkably nerveless risk-taker. The risks were calculated, but taken nonetheless, far more than they had been by her predecessors.


Her faults – bossiness, stridency, high-handed treatment of her colleagues – were of the same dimension as her virtues. As one member of her Cabinet observed: ‘She was an absolutely rotten chairman’, incapable of holding back until the debate swung her way. ‘However, the times required a chief executive and not a chairman.’8


In his book Our Age, Noel Annan, himself a luminary of the liberal intellectual Establishment which, he contended, dominated thinking for decades after the war, expressed his dismay at the intensity of their antagonism to ‘this remarkable woman, far less hollow than her predecessors, elected and re-elected to lead her country, the victor over Argentinian militarists and trade union militants’.9 They achieved a cheap victory at her expense by voting down the proposal that her alma mater Oxford should confer on her an honorary degree. How then, asks Annan, did she prove so much more successful than her critics combined? How did she succeed where they had failed in arresting and reversing the country’s economic and international decline?
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Margaret Thatcher’s foreign policies were the subject of great controversy at the time. She was accused of being Ronald Reagan’s poodle, though no less poodle-like politician did I ever encounter in the course of my career. Her views on Europe, regarded with horror by the Foreign Office and many of her colleagues, triggered her downfall as Prime Minister. Her hard-line stance against the Soviet Union was felt to be far too confrontational. Just as controversial were her views on South Africa, indulgent attitude towards the Shah of Iran and General Pinochet, support for Israel and publicly expressed fears about German unification. The continued expression of her strong views on Europe and Bosnia after her loss of office caused difficulties for her successor, John Major, and attracted fierce disapproval. The purpose of this book is to examine her successes in foreign policy and her failures, and to what extent subsequent events have tended to prove her right or wrong.


Although she always regarded herself as true blue and instinctively in touch with the views of Conservative supporters around the country (an instinct which deserted her when it came to the poll tax), I was never able to regard her as being in any way a typical or normal member of the Conservative Party. She was far more interested in ideas than most practising politicians usually turn out to be. She also came much closer than any other political leader I have known to saying what she really thought and doing what she said. There was an element of straightforward class warfare in her attitude to the party hierarchy in the face of their attempts to patronise her. She came from a family that was neither poor nor rich and which had to save up for any small luxury. Her experience at Oxford was at the other end of the spectrum to the Bullingdon Club. She did not join the Union because, in her day, women could not become members. In any case, she did not like its brittle, showy debates. She joined the Conservative Association instead.


She regarded her victory in the leadership battle against Heath as a shattering blow to the Conservative Establishment, which had fought her unscrupulously all the way. The label ‘grocer’s daughter’ was pinned on her by her own side, not by her opponents. Although Willie Whitelaw became her loyal deputy, his late entry into the contest, having failed to mount the challenge himself and with no alternative policies to Heath, was typical of the behaviour she expected of a Tory grandee. She was regarded by them as having become leader by accident, and probably not for long, with Heath constantly trying to stage a comeback, if necessary through a national unity government. Callaghan, too, patronised her whenever he could.


When she became Prime Minister, these problems were compounded. Her experience was that many of the men she dealt with in politics demonstrated precisely those characteristics they attributed to women – vanity and an inability to make difficult decisions. There were also plenty of them who simply could not abide working for a woman. The idea that women were the weaker sex was, to her, a joke. On more than one occasion she told the rest of her Cabinet: ‘You men, you are so weak!’ In the eyes of her Tory critics, she was not just a woman, but ‘that woman’, someone ‘not just of a different sex, but of a different class’, a person with an alarming conviction that the values of Middle England should be brought to bear on the mess the Establishment had created.10


When it came to the Falklands, John Nott could not think of any male leader who would not have looked for an honourable way out.11 She was not interested in a way out. As for honour, that entailed defeating the aggression. Against formidable odds, she was playing to win.


As she observed, she offended on many counts. When she dropped Christopher Soames from her Cabinet, he gave her the impression that he felt that the natural order of things was being violated and that he was, in effect, being dismissed by his housemaid. This was unfair to Soames, who had served with success as ambassador in Paris, Britain’s first Commissioner to the European Community and Governor of Rhodesia. Ian Gilmour, on being dismissed, described the government as steering ‘full speed ahead for the rocks’ and bent on creating a Clockwork Orange society. In private she used to describe one type of Tory she couldn’t abide as the ‘false squire’, much heartier and tougher on the outside than when push came to shove. Not that she had much time for the real squires either, regarding many of them as belonging, in summer at least, to ‘Chiantishire’.


As she took office, hardly any of her Cabinet colleagues believed that she had any better chance of facing down the unions than Heath, Wilson or Callaghan had done and she herself was very cautious on this subject through her first term. Nor was there any real buy-in from most of her colleagues for the idea of privatising huge swathes of British industry. Monetarism was regarded as an alien doctrine and the Conservative Party was supposed to be non-doctrinaire anyway. To her fury, opposition to her economic policies from the ‘wets’ in the Cabinet manifested itself in the form of constant leaks and briefings against her. The Conservative Party chairman, Peter Thorneycroft, publicly confessed himself to be suffering from ‘rising damp’.


Urged to modify her economic policies in the name of consensus, she replied that, to her, consensus seemed to be the process of ‘abandoning all beliefs, principles, values and policies in search of something in which no one believes, but to which no one objects … What great cause would have been fought and won under the banner “I stand for consensus”?’12


She herself acknowledged later that the money supply was too tightly controlled, deepening the recession. The hugely controversial 1981 Budget was intensely unpopular and denounced by 364 economists. Yet it was followed by eight years of economic growth at an average rate of well over 3 per cent per annum. Britain had gone from being the slowest-growing to the fastest-growing major economy in Europe.


It also was followed by her success in selling hundreds of thousands of council homes to their tenants, in requiring the trade unions to hold ballots before calling a strike and in privatising huge swathes of British industry – all of them reforms which appear in retrospect to have been self-evidently what was required, but which none of her predecessors had the courage even to begin to undertake.


In her wake, privatisation policies were adopted by a host of other governments around the world. She had become a figure of worldwide significance, a claim that could not be made for any other British Prime Minister in the past century save for her hero, Winston Churchill.
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The arguments about Europe that divided the government in her third term are highly relevant to events in the eurozone today. Throughout her time as Prime Minister, Margaret Thatcher fought running battles with other senior members of her Cabinet – Geoffrey Howe, Nigel Lawson, Michael Heseltine and others – about policy towards Europe in general and the movement towards monetary union in particular. Her attitude was that if the other eleven member countries of the European Community wanted to pursue a monetary union, the British government could not stand in the way. But she wanted no part in this project for Britain. To her, it entailed a completely unacceptable transfer of sovereignty. She also had some fundamental doubts about the project itself: ‘With countries at different levels of economic development, fiscal policies and rates of inflation, the most flexible and realistic method of economic adjustment is via floating exchange rates.’13 She very shrewdly suspected that a monetary union could not long endure without a transfer of fiscal sovereignty as well.


She herself acknowledged that the aspect of her foreign policy in which she met with unambiguous failure was her Canute-like resistance to German reunification, concerned that it could destabilise Gorbachev and the reformers in Moscow. While her attitude in this respect was self-defeating, she was more prescient than others about the consequences of reunification and right that it would fundamentally change the balance of power in Europe. Once coupled with monetary union, reunification would result in a eurozone dominated by Germany, one within which other member states would suffer severely from their inability any longer to remain competitive by devaluing their currencies.






















I


‘SO CLEARLY THE BEST MAN AMONG THEM’





In Paris at the time of a major crisis in French politics, culminating in his return to power, I used to listen to General de Gaulle explaining to his compatriots that he had ‘a certain idea of France’. He did not see France as a country of middling importance, with a rather dismal post-war history, unable to arrest its own decline or to exert much influence in the world. He saw his country as one with unique qualities, a majestic history and the capacity under the right leadership – his own – to restore its economic fortunes and its rightful influence in the world.


Margaret Thatcher, on becoming Prime Minister and in the run-up to doing so, could be heard using rather similar language. She lacked de Gaulle’s credentials to do so, but she had the same sense of mission to re-energise a country regarded at the time as the sick man of Europe and restore Britain’s influence and standing in the world. The waning of that influence, largely as a consequence of our economic decline, was chronicled by Sir Nicholas Henderson, with whom I served in Paris at the time, in a famous despatch published in The Economist, which led the new Prime Minister to appoint him as her ambassador in Washington. I did not enjoy, any more than Sir Nicholas, being patronised by my friends and colleagues in the Quai d’Orsay at a time when France was riding high and Britain very low.


Margaret Thatcher felt that, post-Suez, the British foreign policy elite had gone from believing that Britain could do anything to an almost neurotic belief that Britain could do nothing. Her conviction that this was very far from being the case was based on her upbringing, the example of Churchill’s wartime leadership and her own intensely patriotic sense of what the country should aspire to be.


The lessons learned in the early years of her life were a constant point of reference for her. Fourteen years old at its outbreak, she was very much a child of the war. Born in the family flat above her father’s grocery shop in Grantham, in her memoirs she paints a near-idyllic picture of growing up in a hard-working Methodist family in a provincial town which, to her, epitomised the virtues of Middle England at the time.


Well before war was declared, she observed, ‘we knew just what we thought of Hitler’. An avid cinemagoer, she watched with distaste the rallies of strutting brownshirts, so alien to the British or at any rate the Grantham way of conducting politics. Her father, Alfred Roberts, was a Rotarian and aware that Hitler had crushed Rotary in Germany. After the German annexation of Austria in 1938, for a while the Roberts family looked after a young Austrian Jewish refugee en route to join relatives in South America. She told them what it was like to live as a Jew under an anti-Semitic regime.


Yet, when the Munich Agreement was reached, the sentiment in the Roberts family, as across the country at the time, was simply relief that a war had been avoided. Following the German invasion of Poland, on the morning of Sunday 3 September 1939, instead of going to church, the family huddled around the radio to hear Neville Chamberlain’s announcement that Britain was now at war.


Grantham was the recipient of twenty-two air raids during the war. Alfred Roberts was frequently out on air-raid duty. The war news was unremittingly bad. Yet the family, like millions of others, never wavered in its conviction that, somehow, the war would be won. With Churchill as its leader, they felt there was almost nothing Britain could not do. The teenage Margaret Roberts did some work for service canteens and succeeded in her efforts to win a place at Somerville College, Oxford in October 1943, taking pride in the fact that she was the first member of her family to go to Oxford or Cambridge.


There she studied chemistry under the redoubtable Professor Dorothy Hodgkin. The left-wing Principal of Somerville, Dame Janet Vaughan, regarded her as a ‘beta chemist’ and an ‘oddity’ because she was a Conservative. She did not bother to invite her to her parties because ‘she had nothing to contribute, you see’.14


Even at this stage a true-blue undergraduate, she campaigned for the Conservatives in the 1945 general election. Listening to Churchill’s assertion in a radio broadcast that socialism would require ‘some sort of Gestapo’ to enforce it, her reaction was: ‘He’s gone too far.’ Yet she was horrified at the election result. She simply could not understand how the electorate could do this to the man who had led them through the war.


While the Conservative Party in the post-war period was dominated by advocates of the middle way, she made a first discovery of F. A. Hayek’s book, The Road to Serfdom. She did not, she confesses, fully grasp its significance until she was reintroduced to it by Keith Joseph in the 1970s.


She was untroubled by any doubts as to the justification for using atomic weapons to bring an end to the war in Japan. She disagreed with Churchill, ‘for whom my admiration knew no bounds’, about the need to bring India to independence. A student of Koestler’s Darkness at Noon and of Karl Popper’s The Open Society and its Enemies, she applauded Churchill’s ‘iron curtain’ speech at Fulton Missouri in March 1946, notwithstanding the criticism it received as ‘warmongering’ at the time.


Having graduated with second-class honours in chemistry, she was offered a job with a plastics company near Colchester (having lost another because ‘this young woman has much too strong a personality to work here’). Adopted as the Conservative candidate for the unwinnable constituency of Dartford, it was there that she met the managing director of a paint and chemicals company, Denis Thatcher, whom she grew to admire as a no-nonsense Conservative who knew more about economics than she did. She later moved to the laboratories of J. Lyons in Hammersmith as a food research chemist.


Appalled at Aneurin Bevan’s description of the Tories as ‘lower than vermin’, she admired Clement Attlee as a serious man and patriot, ‘all substance and no show’, despite abhorring his party’s policies of nationalisation and the apparently indefinite extension of wartime controls. When Attlee died in 1967, she praised him for having had ‘an exceptionally clear mind – and in politics that is every bit as important as a highly intellectual mind and sometimes more so’.15 Exactly the same could have been said about her.


Dartford proved impossible to win in 1950 and 1951, but she got married to Denis Thatcher and spent her evenings studying for her law exams, from which she was not deflected by the arrival of twins. She passed her Bar finals and in the process became convinced of another of the principles she was to enunciate throughout her political career: the overriding importance of the rule of law. Her two wartime ventures – the Falklands and the first Gulf War – both had a firm foundation in international law. Respect for this principle, however, was never to prevent her from trying to induce successive Attorneys-General to give her the advice she wanted.


She chose not to stand in the 1955 election, following Churchill’s handover to Anthony Eden. Disaster was not long in coming when President Nasser seized control of the Suez Canal in July 1956. Margaret Thatcher shared the prevailing view that Britain should not be pushed around by Nasser but drew some lessons from the subsequent debacle. She shared her husband’s disgust at the stoppage of operations when British troops were on the verge of occupying the Canal Zone. She concluded that Britain should not get into a military operation unless determined and able to finish it. Its actions must be in accordance with international law.


Many of her colleagues blamed the United States and a wave of anti-Americanism affected many in her party. She drew the opposite conclusion, that Britain should never again find itself on the opposite side to the United States in a major international crisis affecting British interests. She saw Harold Macmillan’s great and lasting achievement as rebuilding the relationship with the United States. He was unable, however, to diminish the debilitating impact of what she saw as the Suez syndrome on the British political class.


Having been turned down in three other constituencies, Margaret Thatcher got herself adopted as Conservative candidate for the safe seat of Finchley. Concerned at accusations of anti-Semitism against the local party, she made a particular effort to recruit more Jewish Conservatives, which helped her to win the seat in the 1959 election.


When she arrived in Parliament, her male colleagues were amused by her extreme seriousness. She was never a part of their club. Peter Rawlinson observed that they all smiled benignly as they looked at her blue eyes and blonde hair. ‘We, and all the world, had no idea what we were in for.’16


The main dispute within the Conservative Party at the time was over Colonial Secretary Iain Macleod’s ‘scramble from Africa’, with Lord Salisbury, supporter of the white settlers, denouncing him as ‘too clever by half’. Considering that he was applying Tory modernisation to colonial policy, Margaret Thatcher had no hesitation in backing Macleod.


In 1961 she received from Macmillan her first very junior government appointment in the Ministry for Pensions and National Insurance, about as unglamorous a position as there was to find. Harold Macmillan seemed to operate on an entirely different plane to her. She found him brilliant but elusive, admired him as the consummate politician who had restored Conservative fortunes after Suez but worried about his attitude to public spending and chameleon-like nature. She was not alone in this. When told by a friend that he had just seen Macmillan, Rab Butler enquired: ‘And which Macmillan did you meet – the great-grandson of a Scottish crofter or the son-in-law of a duke?’


Her minister, John Boyd-Carpenter, found she very quickly mastered the complexities of social security and showed a capacity for work that astonished him. The Permanent Secretary, Sir Eric Bowyer, one of the first of many mandarins to underestimate her, protested that she would ‘turn up looking as if she had spent the whole morning with the coiffeur and the whole afternoon with the couturier’. One more perceptive official noted that ‘her assertion that her aim is to get things done has to be taken seriously’.17 Her passion for statistics led her solemnly to announce one day in the House of Commons that she had a red-hot figure, to gales of laughter. Tributes were regularly paid in Parliament to her charm, of which she had plenty – then and later – when she chose to use it.


Her early encounters with the British Establishment led to an impatience and intolerance for it far deeper than that of any Labour Prime Minister. They also led her to the conclusion that she must find a way to impose her will on the civil service as, otherwise, it would impose its will on her – as, in her view, it had done with her predecessors.


By 1962 Macmillan’s political skills had deserted him. The sacking of one-third of his government was described in the House of Commons as ‘laying down his friends for his life’. In January 1963, de Gaulle vetoed the British application to join the European Economic Community (EEC). While Margaret Thatcher was later to find his reasons for doing so perceptive (he saw Britain as insular, maritime, unlike the continental European countries and likely to put its interests in the wider world ahead of those of Europe), at the time she saw the EEC as essentially a trading bloc, did not regard the European Free Trade Association (EFTA) or the Commonwealth as much of an alternative and firmly believed that it was right for Britain to join.


Disappointed by Alec Douglas-Home’s decision to resign after the loss of the 1964 general election, she was persuaded by Keith Joseph to vote for Ted Heath although her acquaintance with Heath, even at that time, ‘had never risked developing into friendship’.18 She found him, as did many of her other colleagues, lacking in human warmth. Yet he was a far more ardent pro-European than his opponent, Reggie Maudling. A relative liberal on social issues, she supported the Private Members’ Bills decriminalising homosexuality and abortion. In 1967 she was appointed to the shadow Cabinet.


In the same year she had made her first visit to the United States on a six-week leadership programme. The excitement she felt at the reception she received and at her visit to the NASA space centre stood in stark contrast to the grim reality of a week-long visit to the Soviet Union made in the aftermath of the invasion of Czechoslovakia. As shadow Minister of Transport, she had been invited to visit the Soviet Union to admire the Moscow metro. She used the opportunity to rush around visiting nuclear power stations as well. The drab streets and empty shops confirmed her view that communism was an alien creed, contrary to human nature, and that in the end, therefore, it could not endure. As explained by her biographer, John Campbell, in terms of the battle of ideas, she never wavered in the conviction that the Cold War was there to be won.19 The surprise Conservative victory in the June 1970 election brought her into the Cabinet as Secretary of State for Education.


In that capacity she devoted her formidable energies to a massive new school-building programme, but ran into a political firestorm caused by the Treasury’s insistence on cutting the subsidy for free milk in schools, leading to her being denounced as ‘Mrs Thatcher, milk snatcher’ and ‘the most unpopular woman in Britain’.


There was little evidence by this stage that many children over the age of seven wanted or needed free milk, and what was being terminated was the legal requirement to provide it. But, hurt and upset by the uproar, she blamed the Treasury for precipitating a massive political storm for an absurdly small saving (£9 million). She would have preferred to be remembered for the rebuilding of 2,000 primary schools.


She deserved to be remembered also for preventing the Open University from being strangled at birth by Iain Macleod, who had vowed to withdraw funding for it. What many of her colleagues saw as a socialist project to deliver inferior degrees via television programmes, she saw as a way of making educational opportunity available to those who otherwise could not afford it.


Immersed in her work at the Department of Education, she paid remarkably little attention to the larger strategic issues facing the Heath government. She was not part of Heath’s inner circle and scarcely spoke on the broader issues in Cabinet. She was wholeheartedly in favour of the negotiations to secure British entry to the EEC, completed by Heath in 1971. There was concern about the budgetary contribution, but the White Paper on entry claimed reassuringly, but misleadingly, that: ‘There is no question of any erosion of essential national sovereignty … The common law will remain the basis of our legal system and our Courts will continue to operate as they do at present.’ The one foreign policy issue on which she strongly but privately dissented, expressing her disagreement in Cabinet, was the decision to impose an arms embargo on Israel as well as on the Arab states in the Arab–Israeli war.


The Heath government staggered from crisis to crisis. The attempt to curb trade union power through the Industrial Relations Act was an abject failure. The government was the loser in a confrontation with the National Union of Mineworkers (NUM) in February 1972, as picketing rendered it impossible to access coal reserves. Heath embarked on a failed attempt to implement a policy to limit wages and incomes through consultations with the union leaders and the Confederation of British Industry.


By December 1973, Britain was operating a three-day week to conserve energy. Faced with the prospect of another miners’ strike, Heath called a general election in February 1974, which the Conservatives lost. Margaret Thatcher did not forget that the support of business leaders who had urged the government to stand firm simply melted away. While the interventionist policies, corporatist style and pursuit of a wages and income policy epitomised everything she fought against later, she did not contest Heath’s economic policies as a member of his Cabinet and, with Keith Joseph, would have been pretty much alone in doing so had she tried.


She was regarded as one of the few successes of the Heath government. When she left the Department of Education, The Guardian wrote: ‘Her support for primary schools, polytechnics, the raising of the school-leaving age, and the new nursery programme will all provide more help to working-class children than the Labour programme actually did.’20


By this time she had developed very serious doubts about Heath’s policies, largely on the grounds that they simply had not worked. Heath seemed to her not to be willing to learn any lessons from what had been tried and failed and to go on instead proposing more of the same. Now her closest political friend and mentor, Keith Joseph, disappointed not to become shadow Chancellor, opted instead to concentrate on research,  founding the Centre for Policy Studies, where she became his vice-chairman. Declaring that he had himself ‘only recently become a Conservative’, Joseph reintroduced her to Hayek’s The Road to Serfdom and, this time, she did not fail to notice the dedication ‘To the socialists of all parties’. To Heath’s fury, in June, Joseph made a speech lumping together the mistakes of both Labour and Conservative governments, talking about ‘thirty years of socialist fashions’. In September, with inflation at 17 per cent, he rejected the view that an incomes policy could contain it; this could only be done by controlling the money supply.


In the October 1974 election, which Labour narrowly won, she was still far enough away from full acceptance of these ideas to propose subsidising mortgage interest rates. She also proposed enabling council house tenants to buy their houses. These were about the only two popular features of the Conservative manifesto. She was infuriated by Heath’s last-minute suggestion of a government of national unity, to which he knew she was strongly opposed. She decided to support Keith Joseph in a challenge to Heath for the party leadership, only for him to destroy whatever chances he might have had by lamenting the threat to the ‘human stock’ in Britain from the rising proportion of children being born to mothers ‘least fitted to bring children into the world’.


She decided to stand instead, against the advice of her husband (‘you haven’t got a hope’).


To general amazement, in February 1975 she defeated Heath in the first-round poll of her parliamentary colleagues, then easily saw off belated challenges from Willie Whitelaw and Geoffrey Howe. Described at the time as the peasants’ revolt, she was elected by the backbench MPs. Virtually the entire party leadership had voted for Heath. In response to rumours that she was anti-Common Market, she issued a statement, as she put it, ‘endorsing Europe’. On the Labour side of the House, Barbara Castle confided to her diary her private solidarity with this extraordinary opponent who ‘so clearly was the best man among them’.21






















II


‘THE ODD WOMAN OUT’





The conventional wisdom at the time was that Margaret Thatcher became Prime Minister with no knowledge or experience of foreign affairs. That certainly was the view of most of the grandees in her Cabinet. She had served in government only in domestic departments and in Cabinet only as Secretary of State for Education. Compared with her senior colleagues like Peter Carrington or Christopher Soames, her practical experience was negligible. Ian Gilmour felt that he knew more about these matters than she did and that was the sentiment of several other members of her Cabinet, as well as of the majority of political commentators.


This was to underestimate very seriously the energy and determination she devoted to foreign policy and meetings with foreign leaders during her period as Leader of the Opposition. She was far more interested in ideas than many of her colleagues and was, for instance, the western leader most strongly influenced by Alexander Solzhenitsyn and his writings about the true nature of the Soviet regime. The themes she developed in this period remained a constant refrain through much of her tenure as Prime Minister.


The first challenge she faced as Leader of the Opposition was the referendum on Britain’s membership of the European Economic Community. The ‘renegotiation’ by the Labour government of the terms of entry had been achieved mainly with smoke and mirrors. As a diplomat in the British embassy in Paris at the time, I was asked by Harold Wilson, en route to see President Giscard, how to tell him in French that he proposed to smuggle the ball out on the blind side.


Europe was very much Heath’s issue. There were suspicions that his successor was less enthusiastic but she did genuinely believe that it would be foolish for Britain to leave the EEC. She saw it as providing an economic bond with other western European countries, which was of strategic significance. But, disliking high-flown rhetoric about Britain’s European destiny and not seeing Europe as central to her policies, she was more than happy to leave the leadership in the referendum campaign to Heath, despite their frigid personal relations. Nor was she at all enthusiastic about referenda in general, except in the event of some major constitutional change, which she did not believe to be the case at the time. In retrospect, she admitted, she should have realised that the subordination of UK law to European law resulting from accession to the Treaty of Rome did represent such a major constitutional change. But few were disposed to acknowledge this then. In Parliament she rejected the argument put forward by the government that the case of continued EEC membership was unique and a referendum was required. It was rather a device to help the Labour Party and government overcome their internal divisions.


She launched the Conservative pro-EEC campaign at a press conference presided over by Heath but, thereafter, The Sun commented on her subsequent largely invisible role in the campaign: ‘Missing: one Tory leader. Answers to the name of Margaret Thatcher. Mysteriously disappeared from the Market Referendum campaign eleven days ago.’ The referendum was won easily, with a two-thirds majority, encouraging Heath to believe that he could make a political comeback, possibly as head of a coalition government.


A visit by her to Paris provided a contrast between the ebullience of the Prime Minister, Jacques Chirac, and the monarchical airs of President Giscard. But she found the Prime Minister’s residence, the Hôtel Matignon, and the Elysée making the same statement about the historic grandeur and national pride of France. The French, she felt, would always put their national interests first in their dealings with the Community, a sentiment she found oddly reassuring.


In July 1975 the Belgian Prime Minister, Leo Tindemans, came to see her about his report on European union. She indicated that a Conservative government would have a more positive attitude to Europe than Labour, but argued for organic growth rather than grand plans imposed from the centre. Conservative MPs had divided views about direct elections to the European Parliament, but were able to defeat the proposal to hold them in Britain on the basis of proportional representation.


The far more difficult issue was the attitude the opposition should take to the embryonic European Monetary System (EMS). In 1972 Britain had joined in the first attempt at the coordination of European currencies – the so-called ‘snake’ – as a way for Heath to demonstrate the country’s European credentials. It is astonishing in retrospect that so important a decision came to be taken with virtually no debate. Heath’s management of his Cabinet was every bit as autocratic as Thatcher’s was, or became. Sterling came under such pressure that Heath had to withdraw within six weeks.


In March 1979, eight of the nine member states of the EEC signed up to a fresh attempt at currency coordination through the EMS. The Callaghan government elected not to join. Margaret Thatcher in opposition exploited to the full the fact that this was due to sterling’s weakness under Labour, but neither she nor her advisers had a view on what to do themselves. Geoffrey Howe believed that a Conservative government, with the right economic policies, would have been able to join and feared that the alternative meant surrendering the direction of the EEC to the ‘Franco-German high table’. Nigel Lawson saw that the EMS had a political objective, the next stage of European unity, but that the discipline which was its ‘sole merit’ might prove to be so unpopular as to invite political suicide. His reluctant conclusion was that Britain should join anyway, but his best hope was that the system would simply collapse because of the pressures on other currencies. Margaret Thatcher’s conclusion was that they should adopt a positive general approach to the EMS while avoiding any specific commitments.


A cause close to her heart, more than to those of her successors today, was to improve cooperation between the right-wing parties in the European Parliament. Addressing the German Christian Democratic Union (CDU) party conference in Hanover in May 1976, she denounced Euro-communism.




In some European countries we now see communist parties dressed in democratic clothes and speaking with soft voices. Of course, we hope that their oft-proclaimed change of heart is genuine. But every child in Europe knows the story of Little Red Riding Hood…





She worried that Willy Brandt’s détente policy had had the unintended effect of promoting neutralist attitudes and was relieved at the robustness of his successor, Helmut Schmidt, who she found to be a good deal less socialist than most members of her shadow Cabinet. But her main objective was to forge an alliance in Europe between the Conservative Party and the CDU, to be known as the European Democratic Union (EDU). Aware of the German determination to work things out with the trade union leaders, she acknowledged that this was feasible – provided they were German. At her first meeting with the Christian Democrat leader Helmut Kohl, she found him amiable and instinctively sound on the important issues, but deliberate, ponderous and far more difficult for her to engage with than the trenchant Helmut Schmidt. The relationship between them was not helped by the fact that neither spoke the other’s language. In the course of her travels, she established a rapport with the future Dutch Prime Minister, Ruud Lubbers, but not with the Christian Democrats in Italy, who declined to participate in the EDU.


She was not immune to flattery. When the Spanish Foreign Minister descended on her, he asked if he might speak frankly. ‘I had been told, madam, of your formidable intelligence, but no one had warned me of your beauty.’ Douglas Hurd was appalled, ‘thinking the impertinence would annoy. I had a lot to learn.’ When Woodrow Wyatt gushed to her in similar fashion a decade later, ‘not bad for sixty’, was her response.22


In a speech in Brussels in June 1978 she described the EEC as not merely an economic entity, but as having a wider strategic purpose. As a zone of stability, democracy and prosperity adjoining Soviet-controlled eastern Europe, it could act as a magnet drawing others away from communism. Western countries should be more cautious, she argued, about technology transfer and the granting of cheap credits to the Soviet bloc.




[image: ]





The consistent central theme of her foreign policy speeches as Leader of the Opposition was the need for the West to show greater unity and determination in standing up to the Soviet Union, which was still pursuing expansionist policies in various parts of the world. The Vietnam War had ended in communist domination of the whole of Indo-China. The post-Watergate paralysis of US foreign policy was to render it impossible for America to respond to the Soviet intervention in Angola. She and President Ford’s Secretary of State, Henry Kissinger, came over time to share a similar view of world affairs. He became a special confidant of hers, on whom she relied for insights into developments in the US and elsewhere and into the characters and motivations of the array of world leaders with whom he kept in touch. She admired his intellectual brilliance and agreed with his generally hawkish sentiments. She wholeheartedly approved of Kissinger’s initiative in normalising relations with China.


At this time, however, she had grave misgivings about the whole strategy of détente, which, in the absence of any real change in Soviet behaviour, she regarded as verging on appeasement. Nor had she failed to notice that the strategic arms limitation talks (SALT) had not resulted in any actual reduction in the number of Soviet nuclear missiles at all. It was only later, when she learned the full extent and very real dangers of Soviet paranoia from the KGB defector, Oleg Gordievsky, that she came to understand Kissinger’s success in creating a stable framework within which the US and Russia could discuss nuclear issues with each other.


Alarmed at the preparations for the Helsinki conference with the Russians on mutual and balanced force reductions (MBFR) and human rights, she made a major speech on the subject on 26 July 1975. Much of it was written with the aid of Robert Conquest, historian of Stalin’s terror and a determined critic of his successors. Deliberately, she did not consult the shadow Foreign Secretary, Reginald Maudling, or anyone else who might have wanted to tone it down. She began with the huge military imbalance in Europe and rapid expansion of the Soviet Navy. She called for ‘real’ détente, as against Brezhnev’s contention that peaceful coexistence was compatible with intensification of the struggle to undermine pro-western regimes around the world. Respect for human rights would be the litmus test of any real change. No flood of words from the conference would mean anything unless it was accompanied by demonstrable progress in the free movement of people and ideas.
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